

“Annexure A”

Constitution

MOWatch Australia Ltd

MOORES LEGAL

ACN 005 412 868
9 Prospect Street
BOX HILL VIC 3128

TEL: (03) 9898 0000
FAX: (03) 9898 0333
REF: ET 132038

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	PRELIMINARY	1
1.1	Exclusion of replaceable rules.....	1
1.2	Definitions	1
1.3	Interpretation	2
1.4	Objects and powers	2
1.5	Application of income and property	3
1.6	Liability of Members.....	3
1.7	Contribution of Members on winding up	3
1.8	Distribution of property on winding up	4
2.	MEMBERSHIP	4
2.1	Eligibility, application and admission	4
2.2	Register of Members	5
2.3	Discipline of Members	5
2.4	Disciplinary subcommittee.....	5
2.5	Notice to Member	6
2.6	Decision of subcommittee.....	6
2.7	Appeal rights.....	7
2.8	Conduct of disciplinary appeal meeting	7
2.9	Cessation of Membership.....	8
3.	MEETINGS OF MEMBERS	9
3.1	Interpretation	9
3.2	Annual general meeting.....	9
3.3	Convening general meetings	9
3.4	Notice of general meetings.....	10
3.5	Chair of general meetings	10
3.6	Quorum for general meetings	11
3.7	Adjournment of general meetings	11
3.8	Voting at general meetings.....	11
3.9	Proxies.....	13
4.	DIRECTORS	14
4.1	Composition of the Board	14
4.2	Elected Director positions	14
4.3	Term of office.....	15
4.4	Vacancies	15
4.5	Removal of Directors	16
4.6	Defects in appointment of Directors.....	16

4.7	Powers and duties of Directors.....	16
4.8	Meetings of Directors.....	17
4.9	Convening meetings of Directors	17
4.10	Quorum for Directors' meetings	17
4.11	Chair	17
4.12	Voting at Directors' meetings.....	17
4.13	Delegation of powers	18
4.14	Electronic meetings of Directors	18
4.15	Circulating resolutions	19
4.16	Duties of Directors	19
4.17	Directors' conflicts of interest.....	19
4.18	Wholly-owned subsidiaries	20
5.	ADMINISTRATION.....	20
5.1	Minutes	20
5.2	Accounts	21
5.3	Audit	21
5.4	Inspection of records	21
5.5	Execution of documents.....	21
5.6	By laws	22
5.7	Alteration of Constitution	22
5.8	Notices.....	22
5.9	Officers: indemnities and insurance	23
5.10	Winding up.....	24
5.11	Transition	24
	SCHEDULE 1	25
	SCHEDULE 2	26

1. PRELIMINARY

1.1 Exclusion of replaceable rules

The replaceable rules contained in the Act do not apply to the Company.

1.2 Definitions

In this Constitution:

“**ACNC**” means the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission.

“**ACNC Legislation**” means the *Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012* and the *Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (Consequential and Transitional) Act 2012*.

“**Act**” means the *Corporations Act 2001* or any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force.

“**Audit**” may mean a review, if permitted by the Act or ACNC Legislation.

“**Auditor**” may mean a reviewer, if permitted by the Act or ACNC Legislation.

“**Board**” means the board of Directors for the time being of the Company.

“**Company**” means MOWatch Australia Ltd.

“**Directors**” means the directors for the time being of the Company and “**Director**” has a corresponding meaning.

“**elected Directors**” shall mean the President, Vice-Presidents and General Representatives elected to the Board in accordance with Part 4.

“**Guaranteed Amount**” means the amount set out in clause 1.6.

“**Holding Company**” means a body corporate of which the Company is a subsidiary.

“**Member**” means a natural person or body corporate whose name is entered in the Register as a member of the Company in accordance with clause 2.2 and “**Membership**” has the corresponding meaning.

“**Objects**” means the objects set out in clause 1.4.

“**Prescribed Application Form**” means any form determined by the Board for the purposes of admitting members, and in default of such a determination, the form included in Schedule 2 to this Constitution.

“**Register**” means the register of Members of the Company under the Act.

“**Seal**” means the common seal of the Company (if any).

“**Secretary**” means the secretary for the time being of the Company.

Special resolution has the meaning given to that term in the Act.

“Sydney MOW” means the persons who are Members of the Company and who reside in the Dioceses of Sydney, who may also be referred to as “Sydney Movement for the Ordination of Women”.

1.3 Interpretation

In this Constitution:

- (a) Except where a contrary intention appears in this Constitution, if an expression in the Constitution has a meaning in the Act, the meaning from the Act shall apply to the expression.
- (b) Words importing any one gender shall be deemed and taken to include all genders and the singular to include the plural and the plural the singular unless the contrary as to gender or number is expressly provided.
- (c) A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation includes any modification or re-enactment of it, any legislative provision substituted for it, and all regulations and statutory instruments issued under it.

1.4 Objects and powers

- (a) The Company is committed to challenging and transforming the Anglican Church of Australia and its role in the community. For this purpose its objects are:
 - (i) To move all dioceses in the Anglican Church of Australia to admit women to the ordained ministries of the Church.
 - (ii) To encourage women to hear and respond to the call of God.
 - (iii) To recognise, encourage and extend the ministries of women, and to see that the Church makes full use of them.
 - (iv) To express women's perspectives in theology, to celebrate their diversity of spirituality and to promote the use of inclusive language in worship.
 - (v) To bring laity and clergy into closer partnership.
 - (vi) To liaise with appropriate national and international women's groups.
 - (vii) To foster ecumenical links and support moves to ordain women in other churches.
 - (viii) To support those women already ordained.
 - (ix) To foster, gather, and share information between members across all dioceses.
- (b) Solely for the purpose of furthering the Objects, the Company:
 - (i) may do all things incidental or conducive to furthering the Objects; and

- (ii) has the capacity and powers of a company under the Act¹ subject to the provisions of this Constitution.

1.5 Application of income and property

- (a) The income and property of the Company must be applied solely towards the Objects.
- (b) No portion of the profits, income or property of the Company may be paid or transferred directly or indirectly to Members by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise in their capacity as Members.
- (c) This clause 1.5 does not prohibit indemnification of, or payment of premiums on contracts of insurance for, any Director to the extent permitted by law and this constitution.
- (d) Despite clause 1.5(b), payment may be made in good faith to any Member of the Company:
- (i) in return for any services actually rendered to the Company;
 - (ii) for goods supplied in the ordinary and usual way of business;
 - (iii) by way of interest on money borrowed from any Member of the Company at a rate not exceeding the rate for the time being fixed by the Board; and
 - (iv) of reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any Member of the Company.

1.6 Liability of Members

The liability of the Members is limited to the Guaranteed Amount, being \$1.

1.7 Contribution of Members on winding up

Every Member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company in the event of the Company being wound up while he or she is a Member, or within

¹ Section 124 Corporations Act (2001) - Legal capacity and powers of a company

- (1) A company has the legal capacity and powers of an individual both in and outside this jurisdiction. A company also has all the powers of a body corporate, including the power to:
- (a) issue and cancel shares in the company;
 - (b) issue debentures (despite any rule of law or equity to the contrary, this power includes a power to issue debentures that are irredeemable, redeemable only if a contingency, however remote, occurs, or redeemable only at the end of a period, however long);
 - (c) grant options over unissued shares in the company;
 - (d) distribute any of the company's property among the members, in kind or otherwise;
 - (e) give security by charging uncalled capital;
 - (f) grant a floating charge over the company's property;
 - (g) arrange for the company to be registered or recognised as a body corporate in any place outside this jurisdiction;
 - (h) do anything that it is authorised to do by any other law (including a law of a foreign country).

A company limited by guarantee does not have the power to issue shares.

Note: For a company's power to issue bonus, partly—paid, preference and redeemable preference shares, see section 254A.

one year of ceasing to be a Member such amount as may be required not exceeding the Guaranteed Amount, for:

- (a) the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company contracted whilst the Member or past Member as the case may be was a Member;
- (b) the costs charges and expenses of winding up; and
- (c) the adjustment of the rights of the contributors or Members amongst themselves.

1.8 Distribution of property on winding up

- (a) Where on the winding up of the Company or dissolution of the Company, there is a surplus of assets after satisfying all the Company's liabilities and expenses, the surplus:
 - (i) must not be paid or distributed to the Members; and
 - (ii) will be given or transferred to such other fund, authority, institution or company which:
 - (A) has similar objects to those of the Company as described in this Constitution; and
 - (B) prohibits the distribution of profit or gain to its members in their capacity as members.
- (b) The identity of the fund authority institution or company will be decided by the Members by ordinary resolution on or before the time of such winding up or dissolution. If the Members fail to decide, the fund, authority, institution or company shall be determined by application to the Supreme Court in the State of incorporation.

2. MEMBERSHIP

2.1 Eligibility, application and admission

- (a) Any natural person or corporation (incorporated or otherwise) committed to the Objects of the Company may be a Member provided:
 - (i) application for Membership is made on the Prescribed Application Form and the annual subscription (if any) has been paid;
 - (ii) the person or applicant agrees in writing to provide a guarantee of not less than the Guaranteed Amount to defray such liabilities and expenses of the Company upon its winding up or dissolution;
 - (iii) the application for Membership has been accepted by the Board and such acceptance may be determined by the Board using any criteria as the Board alone may determine; and
 - (iv) the name of the Member has been entered in the Register of Members.

- (b) The Board may decline any application for Membership and is not bound to give reasons why the application was not accepted.
- (c) The first Members shall be those named as members in the application for the Company's registration under the Act provided they have consented to become members.
- (d) The minimum number of Members is one.
- (e) The annual subscription (if any) shall be determined by the members at the Annual General Meeting each year. The subscription may be determined to include a concessional rate or rates.

2.2 Register of Members

- (a) The Secretary will maintain a Register of Members at the Company's registered office.
- (b) When an applicant has been accepted for Membership the Secretary will cause the Member's name to be entered in the Register of Members and will send to the Member written notice of the acceptance.
- (c) The address of a Member in that Register will be the address of the Member for the purpose of service of any notices to Members.
- (d) The rights of any Member will not be transferable.

2.3 Discipline of Members

- (a) The Company may take disciplinary action against a Member in accordance with the following clauses 2.3 - 2.8.
- (b) No person may be a Director following expulsion or during suspension as a Member unless such a person is subsequently readmitted as a Member.

2.4 Disciplinary subcommittee

- (a) If the Board is satisfied that there are sufficient grounds for taking disciplinary action against a Member, the Board must appoint a disciplinary subcommittee to hear the matter and determine what action, if any, to take against the Member.
- (b) The members of the disciplinary subcommittee:
 - (i) may be Directors, members of the Company or anyone else; but
 - (ii) must not be biased against, or in favour of, the Member concerned.
- (c) The Board may have regard to any matter it considers relevant in determining whether there are sufficient grounds for taking disciplinary action, including but not limited to:
 - (i) non-compliance with this Constitution;

- (ii) conduct which is prejudicial to the Company;
- (iii) conduct which is inconsistent with the Objects of the Company.

2.5 Notice to Member

- (a) Before disciplinary action is taken against a Member, the Secretary must give written notice to the Member:
 - (i) stating that the Company proposes to take disciplinary action against the Member; and
 - (ii) stating the grounds for the proposed disciplinary action; and
 - (iii) specifying the date, place and time of the meeting at which the disciplinary subcommittee intends to consider the disciplinary action (“the disciplinary meeting”); and
 - (iv) advising the Member that he or she may do one or both of the following:
 - (A) attend the disciplinary meeting and address the disciplinary subcommittee at that meeting;
 - (B) give a written statement to the disciplinary subcommittee at any time before the disciplinary meeting; and
 - (v) setting out the Member's appeal rights under clause 2.7.
- (b) The notice must be given no earlier than 28 days, and no later than 14 days, before the disciplinary meeting is held.

2.6 Decision of subcommittee

- (a) At the disciplinary meeting, the disciplinary subcommittee must:
 - (i) give the Member an opportunity to be heard; and
 - (ii) consider any written statement submitted by the Member.
- (b) After complying with sub-clause 2.6(a), the disciplinary subcommittee may:
 - (i) take no further action against the Member; or
 - (ii) subject to sub-clause 2.6(c):
 - (A) reprimand the Member; or
 - (B) suspend the Membership rights of the Member for a specified period; or
 - (C) expel the Member from the Company.
- (c) The disciplinary subcommittee may not fine the Member.

- (d) The suspension of Membership rights or the expulsion of a Member by the disciplinary subcommittee under this clause takes effect immediately after the vote is passed.

2.7 Appeal rights

- (a) A person whose Membership rights have been suspended or who has been expelled from the Company or reprimanded under clause 2.6 may give notice to the effect that he or she wishes to appeal against the suspension or expulsion or reprimand.
- (b) The notice must be in writing and given:
 - (i) to the disciplinary subcommittee immediately after the vote to suspend or expel or reprimand the person is taken; or
 - (ii) to the Secretary not later than 48 hours after the vote.
- (c) If a person has given notice under sub-clause 2.7(b), a disciplinary appeal meeting must be convened by the Board as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 21 days, after the notice is received.
- (d) Notice of the disciplinary appeal meeting must be given to each Member of the Company who is entitled to vote as soon as practicable and must:
 - (i) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and
 - (ii) state:
 - (A) the name of the person against whom the disciplinary action has been taken; and
 - (B) the grounds for taking that action; and
 - (C) that at the disciplinary appeal meeting the Members present must vote on whether the decision to suspend or expel or reprimand the person should be upheld or revoked.

2.8 Conduct of disciplinary appeal meeting

- (a) At a disciplinary appeal meeting:
 - (i) no business other than the question of the appeal may be conducted; and
 - (ii) the Board must state the grounds for suspending or expelling or reprimanding the Member and the reasons for taking that action; and
 - (iii) the person whose Membership has been suspended or who has been expelled or reprimanded must be given an opportunity to be heard.

- (b) After complying with sub-clause 2.8(a), the Members present must vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the decision to suspend, expel or reprimand the person should be upheld or revoked.
- (c) A Member may not vote by proxy at the meeting. This provision shall apply notwithstanding any other provision in this Constitution which would otherwise allow proxies.
- (d) The decision is upheld if not less than three quarters of the Members voting at the meeting vote in favour of the decision.

2.9 Cessation of Membership

- (a) A person ceases to be a Member on:
 - (i) resignation; or
 - (ii) in the case of a natural person:
 - (A) death;
 - (B) becoming bankrupt or insolvent or making an arrangement or composition with creditors of the person's joint or separate estate generally;
 - (C) the termination of the person's Membership in accordance with this Constitution; or
 - (D) the Directors deeming, in their sole discretion, the Member to be an untraceable member because the person has not responded to correspondence sent to the contact details entered in the Members Register for that Member; or
 - (iii) in the case of a body corporate:
 - (A) being dissolved or otherwise ceasing to exist;
 - (B) having a liquidator or provisional liquidator appointed to it;
 - (C) being insolvent; or
 - (D) the Directors deeming, in their sole discretion, the Member to be an untraceable member because the Member has not responded to correspondence sent to the contact details entered in the Members Register for that Member.
- (b) A Member whose Membership is terminated will be liable for all moneys due by that Member to the Company in addition to any sum not exceeding the Guaranteed Amount for which the Member is liable under this Constitution.
- (c) A Member whose Membership is terminated will not make any claim, monetary or otherwise, on the Company, its funds or property except as a creditor thereof.

- (d) Any person or corporation who for any reason ceases to be a Member shall no longer represent themselves in any manner as being a Member.

3. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

3.1 Interpretation

- (a) A provision in this Part which refers to “the Act” shall be interpreted as provided in this clause.
- (b) “Subject to the Act” shall be taken to mean subject to the provisions of the Act notwithstanding that the ACNC Legislation may cause some provisions of the Act to cease to apply to the Company by force of law.
- (c) If:
 - (i) the ACNC Legislation causes some provisions of the Act to cease to apply to the Company by force of law; and
 - (ii) reference in this Constitution is made to such provisions;
 then this Constitution will be taken to apply the relevant provisions of the Act to Company as if the ACNC Legislation had not caused the provisions to cease to apply.
- (d) This clause is intended to remove any ambiguity about the interpretation of particular aspects of this Constitution. It is not intended to give effect to any provision of the Act where its continued operation would be in direct conflict with the ACNC Legislation.

3.2 Annual general meeting

- (a) Subject to the Act, a general meeting shall be held at least once in every calendar year and within the period of five months after the end of the financial year at such time and place as may be determined by the Board. The abovementioned general meeting shall be called the “**Annual General Meeting**”.
- (b) The business of the Annual General Meeting may include any of the following, even if not referred to on the notice of meeting:
 - (i) the consideration of the financial statements which may include an annual financial report, directors’ declaration, director’s report and auditor’s report;
 - (ii) the election of Directors;
 - (iii) the appointment of the auditor (if applicable); and
 - (iv) the fixing of the auditor’s remuneration (if applicable).

3.3 Convening general meetings

- (a) A general meeting may only be called:
 - (i) by a Directors’ resolution; or

- (ii) in accordance with a Members' requisition under the Act; or
 - (iii) as otherwise provided in the Act.
- (b) The Board may change the venue for, postpone or cancel a general meeting, provided that if the general meeting was not called by a Directors' resolution or was called in accordance with a Members' requisition under the Act, then it may not be postponed or cancelled without the prior written consent of the persons who called or requisitioned the meeting.

3.4 Notice of general meetings

- (a) A notice of meeting of Members shall specify:
- (i) the place, the day and the time of the meeting (and, if the meeting is to be held in two or more places, the technology that will be used to facilitate this);
 - (ii) the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting; and
 - (iii) such other information as is required by section 249L of the Act.
- (b) The Company may hold a meeting of its Members at two or more venues using any technology that gives the Members as a whole a reasonable opportunity to participate.
- (c) Subject to the provisions of the Act relating to agreements for shorter notice, at least 21 days' notice must be given of a meeting of Members.
- (d)
- (i) Notice of every meeting of Members shall be given in the manner authorised by clause 5.8 to:
 - (A) every Member and to every Director; and
 - (B) the auditor for the time being of the Company (if there is an auditor).
 - (ii) No other person is entitled to receive notices of meetings of Members.

3.5 Chair of general meetings

- (a) The President shall preside as chair at every General Meeting.
- (b) If there is no President or the President is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act for all or part of the meeting, the Members present shall elect one of their number to chair the meeting (or part of it).

3.6 Quorum for general meetings

- (a) No business shall be transacted at any meeting of Members unless a quorum of Members is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.
- (b) A quorum of Members for a meeting is 25 Members.
- (c) For the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present, a person attending as a proxy, or as representing a body corporate that is a Member, shall be deemed to be a Member.

3.7 Adjournment of general meetings

- (a) If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes from the time appointed for the meeting:
 - (i) where the meeting was convened upon the request of Members - the meeting shall be dissolved; or
 - (ii) in any other case:
 - (A) the meeting stands adjourned to such day, and at such time and place, as the Directors determine or, if no determination is made by the Directors, to the same day in the next week at the same time and place; and
 - (B) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 15 minutes from the time appointed for the meeting, then the meeting shall be dissolved.
- (b)
 - (i) The chair shall adjourn a meeting of Members from time to time and from place to place if the Members present with a majority of votes that may be cast at that meeting agree or direct the chair to do so. No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
 - (ii) When a meeting of Members is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original meeting.
 - (iii) Except as provided by the preceding paragraph, it is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

3.8 Voting at general meetings

- (a)
 - (i) At any meeting of Members a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands or by voices or such other method as the chair determines unless a poll is demanded (before a vote is taken or immediately after the

declaration of the result of the show of hands) by at least two thirds of the Members present in person or by proxy.

- (ii) Unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the chair that a resolution has on a show of hands or by voices or such other method as the chair determines, been carried or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company, is conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.
 - (iii) The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.
- (b)
- (i) If a poll is duly demanded, it shall be taken in such a manner as the chair directs and unless the meeting is adjourned, the result of the poll will be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.
 - (ii) A poll demanded on the election of the chair or on a question of adjournment shall be taken immediately.
- (c) In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or by voices or such other method as the chair determines, or on a poll, the chair of the meeting of Members at which the show of hands or indication by voices or such other method of voting takes place or at which the poll is demanded will not have a casting vote in addition to any vote the chair may have in the capacity as a Member.
- (d) Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any Member:
- (i) at meetings of Members each Member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy or attorney or representative (except a Member may not vote by proxy at a disciplinary appeal meeting); and
 - (ii) on a show of hands or indication by voices or such other method and on a poll, every person present who is a Member or a proxy or attorney or representative of a Member has one vote, and on a poll every person present in person or by proxy or attorney or representative has one vote.
- (e) If the Membership is held jointly and more than one such joint Member votes, only the vote of the Member whose name appears first in the Register of Members counts.
- (f) If a Member is of unsound mind or is a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health, his or her committee or trustee or such other person as properly has the management of his or her estate may exercise any rights of the Member in relation to a meeting of Members as if the committee, trustee or other person were the Member.

- (g) A Member is not entitled to vote at a meeting of Members unless all sums presently payable by him or her in respect of the Company have been paid.
- (h)
 - (i) An objection may be raised to the qualification of a voter only at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered.
 - (ii) Any such objection shall be referred to the chair of the meeting of Members, whose decision is final.
 - (iii) A vote not disallowed pursuant to such an objection is valid for all purposes.

3.9 Proxies

- (a) A Member who is entitled to attend and cast a vote at a meeting of Members may appoint another Member as the Member's proxy to attend and vote for the Member at the meeting, with one exception: a Member may not appoint a proxy to speak or vote on behalf of the Member at a disciplinary appeal meeting.
- (b) An instrument appointing a proxy:
 - (i) shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his or her attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under seal or executed in accordance with the Act or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised;
 - (ii) may specify the manner in which the proxy is to vote in respect of a particular resolution and, where an instrument of proxy so provides, the proxy is not entitled to vote in the resolution except as specified in the instrument;
 - (iii) shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll;
 - (iv) shall be in a form that is as similar to the form in schedule 1 as the circumstances allow; and
 - (v) shall not be treated as valid unless the instrument and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which the instrument is signed or a copy of that power or authority certified by a solicitor or a notary public, is or are deposited not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote, or, in the case of a poll, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll, at the registered office of the Company or at such other place in Australia as is specified for that purpose in the notice convening the meeting.

- (c) A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy or of a power of attorney is valid notwithstanding the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the principal, the revocation of the instrument (or of the authority under which the instrument was executed) or of the power, providing no intimation in writing of the death, unsoundness of mind or revocation was made before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the instrument is used or the power is exercised.

4. DIRECTORS

4.1 Composition of the Board

- (a) The number of the Directors shall be not less than 3.
- (b) The Board shall be comprised of a maximum of 10 Directors as follows:
 - (i) a President who shall be elected in accordance with clause 4.2;
 - (ii) up to two Vice-Presidents who shall be elected in accordance with clause 4.2;
 - (iii) a Treasurer who shall be appointed by resolution of the Board;
 - (iv) a Secretary who shall be appointed by resolution of the Board;
 - (v) the Sydney Convenor, who shall be appointed by Sydney MOW at a meeting of Sydney MOW convened for the purpose; and
 - (vi) up to four General Representatives who shall be elected in accordance with clause 4.2.

4.2 Elected Director positions

- (a) The following positions shall, from time to time, be filled by election at an Annual General Meeting:
 - (i) President;
 - (ii) Vice-President; and
 - (iii) General Representative.
- (b) Prior to an election, the chair of the meeting must call for nominations to fill such positions as are vacant.
- (c) A person may:
 - (i) nominate himself or herself for a particular position; or
 - (ii) with the person's consent, be nominated by another member for a particular position.

- (d) A person who is nominated for a position and fails to be elected to that position may be nominated for any other position for which an election is yet to be held.
- (e) If only one person is nominated for a position, the chair of the meeting must declare the person elected to the position.
- (f) If more than one person is nominated for a position, a ballot must be held. A ballot may be held in such manner as determined by the Board.
- (g) Once elected, the new President may take over as chair of the meeting.

4.3 **Term of office**

- (a) Elected Directors shall hold office until the second Annual General Meeting following their election. An elected Director will cease to hold office at the expiration of that period but will be eligible for re-election.
- (b) The Treasurer and Secretary shall hold office for a period of two years from the date of appointment by the Board, and will cease to hold office at the expiration of that period but may be reappointed.
- (c) The Sydney Convenor shall hold office for a period of two years, or until Sydney MOW either reappoints the Sydney Convenor, or appoints another person to the position – whichever is the latter.

4.4 **Vacancies**

- (a) In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director becomes vacant by virtue of the Act, the office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director:
 - (i) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
 - (ii) resigns his or her office by notice in writing to the Company;
 - (iii) is absent without the consent of the Directors from three consecutive meetings of the Board or at least four meetings over 12 months without leave of absence;
 - (iv) holds any other office or profit under the Company without the consent of the Company in general meeting; or
 - (v) is directly or indirectly interested in any contract or proposed contract with the Company and fails to declare the nature of his or her interest as required by law.
- (b) In the event of a vacancy or vacancies in the office of a Director or offices of Directors, the remaining Directors may act but, if the number of remaining Directors is less than three, they may act only for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to the required minimum or of convening a meeting of Members for that purpose.

- (c) The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint a new Director to fill any casual vacancy arising under this clause, or to fill any elected Director position that was not filled at an Annual General Meeting.
- (d) Any Director appointed under the previous paragraph shall hold office only until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for election but shall not then be taken into account in determining the number of Directors if any who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

4.5 **Removal of Directors**

- (a) The Company may from time to time by resolution passed at a general meeting remove any Director and elect a person to fill the vacant position.
- (b) A Director who is the subject of a proposed resolution under this clause may make representations in writing to the Secretary or President (not exceeding a reasonable length) and may request that the representations be provided to the Members.
- (c) The Secretary or the President may give a copy of the representations to each Member or, if they are not so given, the Director may require that they be read out at the meeting at which the resolution is to be proposed.

4.6 **Defects in appointment of Directors**

All acts done by any meeting of the Board or of a committee of the Board or by any person acting as a Director are, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of a person to be a Director or a member of the committee, or to act as a Director, or that person so appointed was disqualified, as valid as if the person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director or to be a member of the committee.

4.7 **Powers and duties of Directors**

- (a) Subject to the Act and to any other provision of this Constitution, the business of the Company shall be managed by the Directors, who may pay all expenses incurred.
- (b) Without limiting the generality of the preceding paragraph, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, to charge any property or business of the Company or give any other security for a debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any other person.
- (c)
 - (i) The Directors may, by power of attorney, appoint any person or persons (either by name or by reference to position or office held) to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company for such purposes, with such powers, authorities and discretions (being powers, authorities and discretions vested in or exercisable by

the Directors), for such period and subject to such conditions as they think fit.

- (ii) Any such power of attorney may contain such provisions for the protection and convenience of persons dealing with the attorney as the Directors think fit and may also authorise the attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in him or her.
- (d) All cheques, promissory notes, bankers drafts, bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments, and all receipts for money paid to the Company, shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed, executed, as the case may be in such manner as the Directors determine.

4.8 Meetings of Directors

The Board may meet together for the dispatch of business and adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit.

4.9 Convening meetings of Directors

The Board may at any time, and a Secretary shall on the requisition of a Director, convene a meeting of the Directors.

4.10 Quorum for Directors' meetings

At a meeting of the Directors, the number of Directors whose presence is necessary to constitute a quorum is such number as is equal to half of the total number of Directors plus one and if that number is not a whole number then the nearest whole number above, provided that each such Director is entitled under the law to vote on a motion that may be moved at that meeting.

4.11 Chair

- (a) Subject to the following paragraph, the President is the chair for any Board meetings.
- (b) Where a meeting of the Board is held and the President is not present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act for all or part of the meeting, the Directors present shall elect one of their number to be chair of such meeting or part of it.

4.12 Voting at Directors' meetings

- (a) Subject to this Constitution, questions arising at a meeting of Directors shall be decided by a majority of votes of Directors present and voting and any such decision shall for all purposes be deemed a decision of the Directors.
- (b) In a case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting shall not have a casting vote in addition to any vote the chair may have in the capacity as a Director.

4.13 Delegation of powers

- (a) The Directors may delegate any of their powers to a committee or committees consisting of such of their number as they think fit.
- (b) A committee may be comprised of both Directors and non-Directors.
- (c) A committee to which any powers have been so delegated shall exercise the powers delegated in accordance with any directions of the Directors and a power so exercised shall be deemed to have been exercised by the Directors.
- (d) The members of such a committee may elect one of their number as chair of their meetings.
- (e) Where such a meeting is held and:
 - (i) a chair has not been elected as provided by the preceding paragraph; or
 - (ii) the person so elected is not present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act for all or part of the meeting,

the members present shall elect one of their number to chair the meeting or part of it.
- (f) A committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.
- (g) Questions arising at a meeting of a committee shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members present and voting.
- (h) In the case of an equality of votes, the chair shall not have a casting vote in addition to any vote the chair may have in the capacity as a committee member.

4.14 Electronic meetings of Directors

- (a) A meeting of Directors may be called or held using any technology consented to by all of the Directors. Consent of a Director for the purposes of this clause may be a standing one. A Director may only withdraw his or her consent within a reasonable time before the meeting of Directors.
- (b) For the purposes of this Constitution, the contemporaneous linking together by an instantaneous communication device of a number of Directors not less than the quorum, whether or not any one or more of the Directors is out of Australia, shall be deemed to constitute a meeting of the Directors and all the provisions of this Constitution as to meetings of the Directors shall apply to any such meeting held by an instantaneous communication device provided the provisions of this clause are complied with.
- (c) All the Directors for the time being entitled to receive notice of the meeting of Directors shall be entitled to notice of a meeting held by an instantaneous communication device and to be linked by an instantaneous communication device for the purpose of such meeting.

Notice of any such meeting shall be given on the instantaneous communication device or in any other manner permitted by this Constitution.

- (d) Each of the Directors taking part in the meeting by an instantaneous communication device must be able to hear each other of the Directors taking part at the commencement of the meeting.
- (e) A Director may not leave a meeting held by an instantaneous communication device by disconnecting his or her instantaneous communication device unless he or she has previously expressly notified the chair of the meeting of his or her intention to leave the meeting and a Director shall be conclusively presumed to have been present and to have formed part of the quorum at all times during such a meeting until such notified time of his or her leaving the meeting.
- (f) A minute of the proceedings at meetings held by an instantaneous communication device shall be sufficient evidence of such proceedings and of the observance of all necessary formalities if certified as a correct minute by the chair of the meeting.
- (g) For the purpose of this clause “instantaneous communication device” shall include telephone, television or any other audio and/or visual device which permits instantaneous communication.

4.15 Circulating resolutions

- (a) The Directors of the Company may pass a resolution without a Directors’ meeting being held if all the Directors entitled to vote on the resolution sign a document containing a statement that they are in favour of the resolution set out in the document.
- (b) Separate copies of a document may be used for signing by Directors if the wording of the resolution and statement is identical in each copy.
- (c) The resolution is passed when the last Director signs.
- (d) For the purposes of this clause, a document or documents may be transmitted by email, facsimile or other electronic means of transmission.

4.16 Duties of Directors

Directors must comply with any duties imposed on them by law, which may include duties under the Act, and/or duties under the ACNC Legislation (if registered with the ACNC).

4.17 Directors’ conflicts of interest

- (a) A Director may:
 - (i) hold any office or place of profit in the Company, except that of auditor, unless being or becoming a Director would breach any law by reason of holding that office;

- (ii) hold any office or place of profit in any other company, body corporate, trust or entity promoted by the Company or in which it has an interest of any kind;
- (iii) enter into a contract or arrangement with the Company;
- (iv) participate in any association, institution, fund, trust or scheme for past or present employees or Directors of the Company or persons dependent on or connected with them;
- (v) act in a professional capacity (or be a member of a firm which acts in a professional capacity) for the Company, except as auditor;
- (vi) sign or participate in the execution of a document by or on behalf of the Company; and
- (vii) do any of the above despite the fiduciary relationship of the Director's office:
 - (A) without any liability to account to the Company for any direct or indirect benefit accruing to the Director; and
 - (B) without affecting the validity of any contract or arrangement.
- (b) Sub-clause 4.17 is subject to the provisions of the Act and ACNC Legislation (where applicable) regarding disclosure of and voting on matters involving material personal interests.

4.18 **Wholly-owned subsidiaries**

If the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary, the Directors are expressly authorised to act in the best interests of the Holding Company and in doing so shall be deemed to be acting in good faith and in the best interests of the Company provided that:

- (a) the Company is not insolvent at the time the Directors so act; and
- (b) the Company does not become insolvent because of the Directors' act.

5. **ADMINISTRATION**

5.1 **Minutes**

- (a) The Directors will cause minutes of:
 - (i) all proceedings and resolutions of meetings of Members;
 - (ii) all proceedings and resolutions of meetings of the Directors, including meetings of a committee of Directors;
 - (iii) resolutions passed by Members without a meeting; and
 - (iv) resolutions passed by Directors without a meeting,

to be duly entered into the books kept for that purpose.

- (b) A minute recorded and signed in accordance with the Act is evidence of the proceeding, resolution or declaration to which it relates, unless the contrary is proved.
- (c) Books containing the minutes of meetings of Members and resolutions passed by Members without a meeting will be open for inspection by any Member free of charge.

5.2 **Accounts**

- (a) The Directors will cause to be kept proper books of accounts in which will be kept true and complete accounts of the affairs and transactions of the Company. Proper books will not be deemed to be kept unless the books give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs and explain its transactions.
- (b) The Financial Year will begin on the first day of July and end on the thirtieth day of June.
- (c) The accounts will be held at the registered office or any other place as the Directors think fit.
- (d) The accounts will always be open to inspection by the Directors.
- (e) The Directors will arrange for the financial statements, which may include a financial report, the Directors' report and the auditor report if required by the Act or ACNC Legislation to be made out and laid before the Annual General Meeting.

5.3 **Audit**

If required by law (whether the Act or ACNC Legislation or otherwise), the Company must be audited and appoint and remunerate an auditor for that purpose.

5.4 **Inspection of records**

- (a) Subject to the Act, the Directors shall determine whether and to what extent, and at what time and places and under what conditions, the accounting records and other documents of the Company or any of them will be open to the inspection of Members other than Directors.
- (b) A Member other than a Director does not have the right to inspect any document of the Company except as provided by law or authorised by the Directors or by the Company in a meeting of Members.

5.5 **Execution of documents**

- (a) The Company may have a Seal, known as the common seal, on which its name, its Australian Company Number and the words "Common Seal" are engraved.
- (b) If the Company has a Seal the Directors shall provide for the safe custody of the Seal.

- (c) The Seal shall be used only by the authority of the Directors, or of a committee of the Directors authorised by the Directors to authorise the use of the Seal.
- (d) The Company may execute a document by affixing the Seal to the document where the fixing of the Seal is witnessed by:
 - (i) two Directors; or
 - (ii) one Director and one Secretary; or
 - (iii) one Director and another person appointed by the Directors for that purpose.

The signature of such persons may be affixed to the document by manual, autographic or mechanical means.

- (e) The Company may execute a document without using a Seal if the document is signed by:
 - (i) two Directors; or
 - (ii) one Director and one Secretary; or
 - (iii) one Director and another person appointed by the Directors for that purpose.

5.6 **By laws**

The Board has power to make By laws concerning Membership application and qualification for Membership of the Company and any other matter which the Board believes suitable for inclusion in such By Laws.

5.7 **Alteration of Constitution**

The Company may only alter this Constitution by special resolution in accordance with the Act.

5.8 **Notices**

- (a) A notice may be given by the Company to any Member by:
 - (i) serving it on him or her personally;
 - (ii) sending it by post to him or her at his or her address, including any email address, as shown in the Register of Members or the address supplied by him or her to the Company for the giving of notices to him or her; or
 - (iii) sending it by facsimile transmission to a facsimile number supplied by the Member to the Company for the giving of notices to the Member.
- (b) Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice shall be deemed to be effective by properly addressing prepaying and posting a letter containing the notice, and to have been effected, in the case of a notice to a Member, on the day after the date of its posting and, in any

other case, at the time at which the letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of post.

- (c) Where a notice is sent by facsimile, service of the notice shall be deemed to be effected on receipt by the Company of a transmission report confirming successful transmission.
- (d) Where a notice is sent by email, service of the notice shall be deemed to be effected 24 hours after the transmission of the email unless the person transmitting the email is notified at any time that the email was undelivered or undeliverable.
- (e) A notice may be given by the Company to joint Members by giving notice to the joint Member first named in the Register of Members.

5.9 **Officers: indemnities and insurance**

- (a) To the extent permitted by the Act:
 - (i) the Company indemnifies every person who is or has been an Officer of the Company or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company against any liability for costs and expenses incurred by that person in defending any proceedings in which judgement is given in that person's favour, or in which the person is acquitted, or in connection with an application in relation to any proceedings in which the Court grants relief to the person under the Law; and
 - (ii) the Company indemnifies every person who is or has been an Officer of the Company or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company against any liability incurred by that person, as an Officer of the Company or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company) unless the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.
- (b) The Company may pay, or agree to pay, a premium in respect of a contract insuring a person who is or has been an Officer of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company against a liability:
 - (i) incurred by the person in his or her capacity as an Officer of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company or in the course of acting in connection with the affairs of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company or otherwise arising out of the Officer's holding such office provided that the liability does not arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company or a subsidiary of the Company or a contravention of sections 182 and 183 of the Act; or
 - (ii) for costs and expenses incurred by that person in defending proceedings, whatever their outcome.
- (c) In the two preceding clauses:
 - (i) the term "**proceedings**" means any proceedings whether civil or criminal, being proceedings in which it is alleged that the

person has done or omitted to do some act, matter or thing in his or her capacity as such an Officer or in the course of acting in connection with the affairs of the Company or a wholly-owned subsidiary or subsidiary of the Company or otherwise arising out of the Officer's holding such office (including proceedings alleging that he or she was guilty of negligence, default, breach of trust or breach of duty in relation to the Company or a wholly-owned subsidiary or subsidiary of the Company); and

- (ii) the term "**Officer**" has the meaning given to that term in section 9 of the Act; and
- (iii) if sections 182 and 183 of the Act do not apply to the Company by virtue of the ACNC Legislation, then the reference to those sections shall be deemed to be a reference to the equivalent provisions in the ACNC Legislation (if any).

5.10 **Winding up**

Subject to clause 1.8, the Company may be dissolved by a special resolution of Members at a meeting of Members.

5.11 **Transition**

- (a) The first Directors shall be those named as Directors in the application for the Company's registration under the Act provided they have consented to become Directors.
- (b) The first Directors shall retire in accordance with a rotation policy determined by the Directors. A rotation policy determined under this clause:
 - (i) applies notwithstanding what might otherwise be the term of office for the first Directors described in the clause in this Constitution headed "term of office"; but
 - (ii) shall only apply to an initial term of office for any Directors that are the first Directors.

SCHEDULE 1

MOWATCH AUSTRALIA LTD

I/We
 being a member/members of the abovenamed Company hereby appoint

 of
 or, in his or her absence,
 of
 as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the meeting of Members of the
 Company to be held on the day of, 20....
 and at any adjournment of that meeting.

This form is to be used * in favour of / * against the resolution .

SIGNED this day of, 20..

* Strike out whichever is not desired

To be inserted if desired

SCHEDULE 2

APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP OF MOWATCH AUSTRALIA LTD

I,
(name)

of
(address)

desire to become a member of MOWatch Australia Ltd.

In the event of my admission as a member, I agree:

- To be bound by the Constitution of the Company for the time being in force; and
- To provide a guarantee not exceeding one dollar (\$1.00) to defray such liabilities and expenses of MOWatch Australia Ltd upon its winding up or dissolution.

.....
(Signature of Applicant)

Date: